IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA *

FILED

SHD J. WHITE

NOV 1 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
Chief Deputy Clerk

MEMWALDY	CURTIS,	:	:
	Appellant,	:	:
v.		:	:
STATE OF	FLORIDA,	:	:
	Appellee.	:	:
		,	/

CASE NO. 84,293

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHET KAUFMAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 814253 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

	PAGE(S)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Record on Appeal consists of twenty-three (23) volumes. Volumes I-IV contain the record, and references to pages there shall be made as "R". Volumes V-XXIII contain transcripts of the proceedings, and references there shall be made as "T#".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A grand jury indicted appellant Memwaldy Curtis on charges of first-degree murder (Count I), attempted first-degree murder with a firearm (Count II), and armed robbery with a firearm (Count III). All the offenses took place on December 21, 1992, in Duval County, Florida. Curtis was born March 12, 1975, making him 17 years old at the time. R9-11; T1212-13, 1236.

A jury trial was held June 6-9, 1994 before The Honorable L. Page Haddock. The jury found Curtis guilty as charged. T1144-45; R321-25. The penalty phase was held before the same jury on June 24, 1994, and the jury recommended death by a vote of 9-3. T1341;

R378. At sentencing July 28, 1994, the judge adjudicated Curtis guilty on all three counts, imposing consecutive sentences of death on Count I and guidelines departure sentences of life imprisonment on Counts II and III. T1423-25; R401-18. Curtis timely filed a notice of appeal on August 25, 1995. R705.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case is about an armed robbery and the shooting of two store clerks that took place at 11:30 p.m., December 21, 1992, in the Safeco Food Store, Duval County. One clerk, Fouad Taaziah, was shot in the stomach and survived. The other clerk, Najwan Khair-Bek, died. The State and the defense agreed from the very beginning of the trial that appellant's co-defendant Anthony Howard -- who plead guilty to first-degree murder in exchange for a life sentence -- fired first, then fired more shots, shot both clerks, and killed Khair-Bek. The State and the defense also agreed that Memwaldy Curtis, 17 at the time, was in the store with Howard but did not fire the shot that killed Khair-Bek. T445, 454-55, 459-60, 984, 1001-06, 1037-39, 1053. The State's theory was felony murder, and the defense's theory was that Curtis was under duress. By the time the case went to the jury, the issue boiled down to conflicting evidence about whether, and to what extent, Curtis voluntarily participated, and what punishment, if any, is warranted.

The trial took place after the judge denied defense counsel's motion for a continuance because the defendant personally did not want it even though the judge found "well taken" counsel's

uncontroverted averment that he was not prepared for trial. <u>See</u> Issue I, <u>infra</u>. Also, the judge forced Curtis to be judged by a juror whom Curtis had peremptorily challenged. <u>See</u> Issue II, <u>infra</u>.

According to the State's evidence, Taaziah and Khair-Bek were kneeling behind a 3-3%-foot-tall counter pricing wine when Taaziah heard the door open and two black males enter, one behind the other. Taaziah and Khair-Bek stood and raised their hands. The first male wore a green jacket and had metal on his teeth. He walked toward and faced Taaziah holding a handgun pointed toward the middle of Taaziah's body. The second, shorter male, walked toward the cash register. The first male (later shown to be Howard) had both hands on a silver handgun. Taaziah did not get a good look at the second male (later shown to be Curtis), who was obscured from view by a Marlboro display, and he did not see him carrying a gun. Taaziah said the first male took the lead, demanded money, and Khair-Bek walked to the register. Taaziah said he heard the second male demand money. Khair-Bek pulled money out of the register and handed it over. Taaziah heard the second male demand more money, so Khair-Bek pulled out food stamps and handed them over. Taaziah said the first male shot Taaziah in the stomach. Taaziah fell to the floor behind the counter from which vantage point he could not see anything else that happened. But he did hear two more shots that sounded alike, and saw that Khair-Bek had been struck. He did not see who fired those two shots. Khair-Bek spoke briefly and then immediately lapsed into unconsciousness. When the two males fled,

Taaziah pushed a silent alarm button, walked outside, and called the police. T483-506; 509, 511-12; 515-17; 521-23. Taaziah said it was clear that the first male was giving the orders and shot him in the stomach. T518. The bullet is still in his body. T506. Taaziah was never able to identify the robbers, T507, 774, 811, yet he said they were regular customers. T816.

The State theorized that Curtis got up on the counter and fired a shot at Khair-Bek, but Taaziah gave conflicting testimony about whether the second male had gotten up onto the counter by the register. He said the second robber "put all of hisself [sic] on the counter," T531, yet he also said if someone had jumped up or kneeled on the counter, he would not have been able to see it, T528. No prints lifted from the store established that either defendant had gotten on the countertop. Neither fingerprints nor footprints were lifted from the cash register drawers and the Formica counter top even though it is possible to recover prints from that Formica. Numerous other forensic scientific means could have been used to find prints on the Formica counter, but investigators did not even try to use them. No identifiable prints found in the store matched Curtis or Howard. No fingerprints were recovered from the shell casings, either. T550-55, 572-76, 592-95, 597-600, 773, 805-09. A casting of a shoe print was made, but no match was ever found. T578, 584.

Medical examiner Peter Lipkovic found evidence that two gunshots had penetrated Khair-Bek. The first (in the record as

wound number one) was to the left chest, penetrating the heart and liver on a slightly downward course toward the back of the body, where a .32-caliber full metal jacket projectile was recovered. T606-08, 612. This was the fatal shot. T620, 635-36. The shot had been fired from more than two feet away. T616-17. Unconsciousness would have occurred within ten to thirty seconds. T640, 646.

The second penetrating gunshot (in the record as wound number three) struck the instep of Khair-Bek's left foot. It too was not a close-range wound, the shot fired from more than two feet away. The projectile caused entrance and exit wounds to the foot, passing all the way through. It was not a fatal wound. The projectile could have slowed after passing through the foot. T628-30, 645.

A non-penetrating wound (in the record as wound number two) was discovered on the exterior surface of Khair-Bek's chest. It "merely caused the contusion or a bruise on the outside of the skin. It never penetrated," Lipkovich said. Most probably, it was the kind of wound that would have scabbed over and healed even if left untreated. It could have resulted from a dud or from a shot that hit an intermediate target like a not very solid window, a window screen, or a door screen. The projectile that caused the superficial wound was a .32-caliber full metal jacket bullet, which was found between layers of clothing and did not penetrate the inner lining of his warmup suit. Lipkovic did not know what kind of weapon had fired it. T621-22, 636, 637-39.

Asked if the shooter of the fatal shot would have been taller

than the victim, Lipkovic said not necessarily because there are many possible explanations. For example, if the shooter and victim were the same height and the weapon was held at eye level shooting toward the chest, the trajectory would have been downward. If the victim had been leaning forward, the trajectory would be different regardless of the position of the shooter's arm. A slight downward trajectory also could have been caused if the shooter was significantly taller and firing from hip or shoulder level, or if the same height firing from eye level. T612, 616, 642-44. Khair-Bek was 5'9" tall. T643. Curtis is 5'4", and Howard is closer to 6'. T872, 812.

Over objection, Lipkovic was asked to give his opinion about the order in which the shots were fired assuming that the victim had been standing when shot, and that the person or persons who shot him were standing at essentially the same level. He said the Khair-Bek was first struck by the fatal shot to the left chest. After falling to the ground, his left foot or both feet, would have come up in the air. Then the second shot would have struck him in the foot, losing momentum as it passed through. He could not estimate the time between shots, but said because the victim would have been unconscious in seconds, he would have been unable to keep his feet up for long, so the second shot to the foot could not have come long after he went down. The third wound to the chest could have been inflicted after he was down and unconscious and after the bullet had struck an intermediate target. T630-35, 641-42, 648.

Taaziah said the gun Howard shot him with resembled a semiautomatic pistol with a clip, not a revolver with a cylinder. T491. No bullet holes were found in the store. T569, 829. An evidence technician found two shell casings the night of the shooting, one by the front door of the store and one behind the counter. T555. A few weeks later, the proprietor of the store found a third shell casing. T557-58. Firearms examiner Thomas Pulley said all three casings came from the same .32-caliber weapon. T562, 655-57, 672. The casings had some of the firing characteristics of a Davis P.32 semi-automatic pistol, and although he could not be sure of the particular weapon, the casings most likely had been ejected from a .32-caliber semi-automatic pistol. T657-58. Pully compared the projectile recovered from the fatal wound and the one found in the victim's clothing. He said the two had not come from the same weapon. T661. The projectile recovered from the fatal wound had been fired by the .32-caliber semi-automatic pistol, possibly a Davis or a Colt, which normally holds six rounds at a time. T662-64, 669. The one that caused the superficial chest wound had been fired from a .32-caliber revolver, possibly a Smith & Wesson, Iver Johnson, or Herrington & Richardson, which do not eject casings when fired. T664-65, 669, 675. Pulley could not tell if both weapons had been fired by a single individual. т670.

Albert Fountain testified that he talked to Curtis and Howard after the shooting. Fountain is a six-time convicted felon who did not tell the police anything until he was arrested on December 7,

1993, and he testified only after getting police to promise to go easy on him on an unrelated unarmed robbery charge in exchange for information about the Safeco robbery. He pleaded guilty to unarmed robbery on a promise of a 15-year cap and no habitual offender classification before testifying against Curtis. T698-705, 722-26, 731, 742-43. Fountain characterized the relationship between Curtis and Howard as real tight friends. T684-85, 857.

On December 17, 1992, Curtis and Howard had been living in separate apartments at the Kinard Apartments complex, close to the Safeco. Two or three days before Christmas 1992, on the same night as the robbery, Fountain said he had a conversation with Curtis and Howard at about 2 a.m. outside the apartment complex. Fountain said he went there after babysitting to buy crack cocaine from Curtis, and that he had been using drugs throughout the period of December 1992-December 1993, yet he claimed he had not consumed drugs that day and was not under the influence of drugs at the time. He also said crack cocaine is merely "just a speed, just makes you do things faster than you would normally do," without affecting memory or other senses. T687-89, 706, 720-21, 729-30, 733, 738.

Fountain said Curtis talked about the Safeco and wanted him to explain some things based on Fountain's "street experience":

A He told me that he had bust one of them, somebody. And "Bust one" means when you shoot somebody, you shot somebody. He told me he shot somebody during the armed robbery at Safeco station, and that B-Love that was with him -- which is Anthony Howard -- said that he shot somebody in there also.

And he says that B-Love shot the guy that was over by the potato chip rack further down what you call the counter, and he shot the guy that was by the cash register.

T689-90, 730. Fountain said Curtis said he and Howard robbed the store "[b]ecause they owed somebody. They owed somebody else for drug monies on the drugs that they had messed up on, they owed somebody else, so they had to go and get the money." The "somebody" was an unidentified supplier. T691. Fountain said Curtis told him the robbery was Curtis's idea. T690. Howard went into the store first, finding two clerks present. "He said that Anthony Howard went to the rear of the counter, and he stood to the front of the counter by where the cash register drawer was and where the door was at." The shorter of the two clerks was over by the potato chip rack and "flinch[ed]", which "means like buck, like he was going against something." Howard felt the clerk may have been attacking him, so Howard shot him. T691-93, 711. Without a doubt, Curtis told him that Howard shot the first clerk, then Howard shot the clerk behind the register. T711-12.

> He said at that time that he demanded the money from the guy that was in front of the cash register. The guy took the money out of the cash register, placed it on the counter, and he attempted to go and get it, but he said he backed up and he told Anthony Howard to go and get it because the man had pushed the money onto the floor.

> And when Anthony Howard went over there to pick up the money, the man looked like he was going to flinch at Anthony Howard, like try to grab the gun or grab him, so he shot him.

Q The defendant told you that he had shot the clerk by the register?

A Yes, sir.

Q Did the defendant tell you where he thought that the clerk by the register had been shot, what part of his body? A He just said the upper part of his body, the upper part of the body means from the hip on up.

T692-93. After the shooting, Fountain said Curtis and Howard had run from the store to the apartment complex. They got about \$50. T696-97. Curtis asked Fountain to take him to Orange Park so he could hide out, and to tell him how to get rid of the gun. T698.

Howard did not disagree with any of Curtis's statements, Fountain said. Howard described the incident, saying "It was fucked up," T697, and "I thought you said it would be more money than that." T719-20, 735-36.

Fountain said Howard had a gun with him that night, a silver .32-caliber semi-automatic pistol. Fountain said the semi-automatic had belonged to Curtis but Curtis had given it to Howard. T695-96, 716. Howard always keeps that semi-automatic on him and had it in his possession a lot prior to that night. T716. Curtis never said that he had given Howard the semi-automatic on the grounds of the school near the store, at the store, or anything like that. T716. Howard later admitted to having shot both clerks with a semiautomatic handgun, saying he shot Taaziah in the chest, shot at but missed Khair-Bek, and fired a third time, hitting Khair-Bek in the chest. T777-780.

Fountain said Curtis also had a gun that night, a .32-caliber revolver. He had seen Curtis with the gun before. T693-94. Fountain smelled the revolver and noticed that it had been fired

within a couple of hours, and it had two empty casings. T695-96, 736-37. Curtis later testified he had fired a single shot in the store, T790-91, but it was not a revolver -- it was a semi-automatic Howard gave to him and told him was empty, T870-71, 879, 885.

Over objection, detective Robinson testified about what Fountain told him immediately after officers arrested Fountain for unarmed robbery. <u>See</u> Issue IV, <u>infra</u>. He said Fountain told him he had talked to the two guys who committed the Safeco crime, and he identified them as Anthony Howard and Memwaldy Curtis. Robinson arrested Howard on December 14, 1993. Howard had two silver caps on the front of his teeth. T781. Robinson then arrested Curtis, who did not attempt to run. T758-62.

Howard made numerous statements introduced through investigators without Howard testifying. At first he said he had participated in the crime but only had a blank gun; that Curtis "was there with him"; and that he was afraid of Curtis. T763-64, 767, 769, 776. Later Howard admitted he shot both clerks in the chest with a semi-automatic handgun. He said:

> "A couple of days before Christmas in 1992, Wally and I, Anthony Howard, were at my house. Wally had came over and asked me to go for a walk. While Wally and I, Anthony Howard, were walking, I, Anthony Howard, saw that Wally had had two guns. Wally gave me a chrome semi-auto .32 caliber handgun, and he kept a black .32 caliber handgun." "Wally wanted to jack the store at Bunker Hill

and Edgewood. Wally asked me, Anthony Howard, to be the lookout. I, Anthony Howard, went into the store first and stood by the chips. Wally came in behind me and pulled his gun and went to the counter." "Wally told both store clerks to give it up.

I, Anthony Howard, stood back with my gun drawn out being the lookout. One of the clerks standing by the cash drawer was giving Wally the money when some of it fell on the floor."

"I, Anthony Howard, saw one of the clerks move, so I, Anthony Howard, shot, hitting him in the chest and stomach area and fell. I then saw the other clerk move, so I shot at him but missed, hitting the wall."

"I, Anthony Howard, was starting toward the door as Wally was starting to rise back up from picking the money off of the floor. Wally began to shoot, and I shot once more at the clerk by the cash register, hitting him in the chest."

"I, Anthony Howard, heard Wally shooting some more as I, Anthony Howard, ran down the school -down to the school yard where we split the cash." "I, Anthony Howard, got \$25 in cash and \$7 in food stamps. Wally took both guns, and I, Anthony Howard, went to a friends house."

T779-80, 827-28. Howard never said anything about owing Curtis drug money. T830-31.

Curtis also made a statement. After advising Curtis of his rights, Hinson informed him that Howard had implicated him in the Safeco robbery. Hinson brought over Howard, and Howard said to Curtis, "I've told him, man, now you tell him." T781-89. Curtis never denied his involvement. T843. Hinson said:

> A He informed me that they were going out and they were going up to rob the store, and that Mr. Howard had given him the gun and that he had a darkish-colored revolver and that Mr. Howard had a silver or a shiny chrome semi-automatic handgun.

He said they went in the store and that Mr. Howard had fired the gun immediately upon entering the store and then had taken a position away from the door and across from the clerk that was furthest from the door behind the counter.

He stated that he had gone up to the front of the cash register where we knew Mr. Khair-Bek later to have been standing. He said at that point in time he was getting the money when he saw Mr. Howard

shoot the first victim, which we later found out to be Mr. Taaziah.

At that point in time, some of the money fell on the floor and Mr. Howard stated that he was picking up the money, he saw or heard Mr. Howard shoot at the second --

Q Can I interrupt you for one moment?

A Correction, sorry.

Q Which one said that they saw the money fall to the ground?

A Mr. Curtis was by the register and was picking the money up.

Q Okay. Then what happened, what did he say after that?

A He stated that as he was picking the money up, he heard the shot and pulled up and shot,

himself, from his handgun because his partner had shot and then he ran out the door.

Q Now, what kind of a gun did the defendant say he had?

A A darkish, grayish-colored revolver.

Q And what kind of a gun did the defendant say that Anthony Howard had?

A A shiny or chrome semi-automatic.

Q Did the defendant say where they went after they committed -- he and Anthony Howard committed this robbery and the shooting at the Safeco Store?

A They ran through the school yard down to where Mr. Howard's address or where they were staying at on Kinard Street which was a short distance away.

Q Did the defendant ever tell you how much money they got during the course of this robbery?

- A During the oral confession, yes.
- Q What did he say?

A \$25 in cash and \$7 in food stamps.

T790-92. Curtis put the statement in writing as well:

"I, Memwaldy Curtis, having been advised of my rights do give this written statement of my own free will. I, Memwaldy Curtis, have asked Det Robert Hinson to write my statement out for me. A couple of days before Christmas in 1992 'Love' and I, Memwaldy Curtis, were up by the Safeco at Bunker Hill and Edgewood Avenue. 'Love' wanted to rob the store and he and I, Memwaldy Curtis, both had handguns on us at the time. 'Love' went in first

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