# FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 5 1996 1

OLERA, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MEMWALDY CURTIS,

Appellant,

v.

Case #: 84,293

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Id. at 871-72 (citations omitted).

Similarly, Anthony Howard had no special relationship with the state. Both the state and defense listed Howard as a witness (R 42, 47). A copy of Howard's negotiated plea indicated that he would plead guilty to all counts of the indictment and would receive a life sentence on the first degree murder count; that there was no agreed-upon sentence for counts two and three; that sentencing would be delayed; and that the state would make a sentencing recommendation to the court, conditioned upon Howard's providing truthful testimony in the Curtis case (R 43, 718-20). Further, defense counsel admitted to the trial court that he had subpoenaed and deposed Howard.

If this Court determines otherwise, any error on this point was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The court permitted Curtis to comment on Howard's statement and written plea agreement, of which defense counsel fully availed himself. Furthermore, the jury saw for itself that Howard did not appear, and could draw any number of inferences from that fact.

#### Issue VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING CURTIS'S VARIOUS MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON ALLEGATIONS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

The trial court, in the exercise of its discretion, controls the comments made in opening statements, the conduct of counsel during trial, and the comments made in closing arguments.

Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 111
S. Ct. 2067 (1991); Robinson v. State, 520 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 131 (1992); Hooper v. State, 476 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1098 (1986). Absent a showing of a clear abuse of discretion, this Court will not overturn a trial court's ruling in this regard. Id. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in the instant case, because those comments which were objected to were not so prejudicial as to warrant a mistrial.

Curtis first complains that the prosecutor improperly argued during opening statement that Curtis had destroyed the victim's "American dream" and then "pounded that theme home" in closing argument. Initial Brief at 65-66. Curtis, however, neglects to inform this Court that defense counsel did not object to the "American dream" comments during the opening statement (T 441-42).

Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred. Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990).

During closing argument, defense counsel objected to the "coffin" remark and moved for a mistrial; the trial court sustained the objection but denied the mistrial motion, noting: "I don't think it is prosecutorial misconduct or anywhere close to the kind of misconduct I have to have to state a mistrial." (T 1083). Because defense counsel did not request a curative instruction, this issue has not been preserved properly for appeal. Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Palmer v. State, 486 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Oliva v. State, 346 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977).

In any event, the prosecutor's "American dream" argument was not improper. It did not ask the jurors to place themselves in the victim's shoes. Contrast Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1205 (Fla. 1989). And it did not constitute a plea for victim sympathy. Contrast Valle v. State, 474 So. 2d 796, 805 (Fla. 1985); Bush v. State, 461 So. 2d 936, 941 (Fla. 1984). Even if the "coffin" remark were improper, it was, as the trial court found, not so prejudicial as to have influenced the jury. Johnson v. State, 442 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 104 S. Ct. 2182 (1984).

Curtis next complains that the prosecutor improperly suggested to the jury that it should send the community a message by convicting Curtis. Initial Brief at 67.10 Although this Court has held that it is improper for a prosecutor to ask the jury to send a message to the community, Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1985), the prosecutor in this case did not make such "an obvious appeal to the emotions and fears of the jurors." Id. at 133.11 Instead, the prosecutor argued only that the jury was the criminal justice system and it was the jury's responsibility to "do the right thing," i.e., convict Curtis (T 1078). This is not the equivalent of asking the jury to send a message to the community. See (T 1082) (The trial court held: "The improper thing is 'sending a message,' the prosecutor would be telling jurors to let something other than the evidence influence their verdict . . . let community response be the reason for finding guilt[].").

Curtis also complains that the prosecutor improperly commented on his right to remain silent and right not to incriminate

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Although Curtis objected to this comment several pages later, he made no "contemporaneous objection" within the meaning of <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990).

In <u>Bertolotti</u>, the prosecutor argued: "Anything less in this case would only confirm what we see running around on the bumper stickers of these cars, and that is that only the victim gets the death penalty." <u>Id.</u> at 133 n.3.

himself. 12 Initial Brief at 67. The record clearly shows that defense counsel objected only on the basis of Curtis's right to remain silent (T 1084); accordingly, Curtis's new claim that the comments violate his right not to incriminate himself is procedurally barred. Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1990). In explaining his comments, the prosecutor observed that Curtis himself testified that he did not call the police and tell them his story (T 1084). The trial court correctly found no comment on Curtis's right to remain silent. Viewed in context, these comments were not fairly susceptible of being interpreted as remarks on Curtis's exercise of his right to remain silent. Instead, they are comments responsive to the issue of Curtis's credibility, as he admitted that he never told the police about Howard's threatening him (T 881, 885, 895-96, 903-04, 912).

Next, Curtis complains that the prosecutor "crossed the line" by demeaning Curtis's character as a liar. Initial Brief at 67-68. Curtis, however, neglects to inform this Court that he did not object to any of the "lying" or "ridiculous" comments (T 1059, 1063, 1068, 1071). Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred. Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1990). In any event, "[w]ide

Again, although defense counsel objected, the objection is some 20 pages after the comment by the prosecutor (T 1084), and is not "contemporaneous" within the meaning of  $\underline{\text{Nixon}}$ .

latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments." Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982) (citations omitted). See also Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1985) (proper closing arguments "review the evidence . . . and explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence."). As a complete contextual look at the prosecutor's closing reveals, these comments were made as the prosecutor reviewed Curtis's testimony and permissibly pointed out the "major flaw[s] in the logic of the defendant's testimony." (T 1068).

Finally, Curtis complains that the prosecutor demeaned the reasonable doubt standard. Initial Brief at 68. Again, Curtis does not indicate his failure to object to this argument below; accordingly, it is procedurally barred. Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1990). In any event, as is evident, the prosecutor did not misstate the law on this point.

Despite the fact that Curtis did not object to many of these comments, he claims that this Court may consider them under the rationale enunciated in Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 1995 WL 335122 (U.S. Oct. 2, 1995). There, this Court found a statement by the prosecutor to be fairly susceptible of being interpreted by the jury as a comment on

Whitton's right to remain silent; because it found error, this Court proceeded to examine whether the error was harmless. Id. at 864. In examining those statements which were not objected to, this Court did not enunciate a new rule that unpreserved issues must be examined. Instead, this Court simply followed a long line of cases since State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in acknowledging that, when error is found, the entire record must be examined in determining whether the error is harmless.

Because there was no error under this issue, this Court need not examine the unpreserved claims. Even if this Court were to conduct such an examination, it would reveal that, beyond a reasonable doubt, these claimed errors would not have affected the jury's verdict. None of these comments were emphasized unduly, and considered either "individually or collectively, did not deny [Curtis] his right to a fair trial." Reichmann v. State, 581 So. 2d 133, 139 (Fla. 1991).

# Issue VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED CURTIS'S MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL ON PREMEDITATED MURDER.

Curtis alleges that the state did not charge him with the premeditated murder of Khair-Bek, citing to the December 22, 1993, information which charged him with second degree murder (R 5). This statement is incorrect, in light of the January 5, 1994, indictment which charged Curtis with first degree murder, felony or premeditated (R 9). Although Curtis points to the closing argument of the prosecutor who argued that the state had proven only felony murder (T 1037), Curtis is left with his counsel's own admission that the state had proven a prima facie case of premeditation worthy of being presented to the jury (T 848).<sup>13</sup>

<sup>13</sup> This prima facie case showed that, while Curtis stood beside Khair-Bek at the cash register, Howard shot Taaziah in the stomach area; Taaziah then heard two more shots (T 498-500). Khair-Bek was shot twice in the chest, and once in the foot (T 606). One .32 caliber full metal jacket projectile pierced Khair-Bek's chest (T 608), while the other .32 caliber full metal jacket projectile did not (T 621). These two bullets were not fired from the same gun (T 660). bullet which pierced Khair-Bek's chest was fired from a .32 caliber semiautomatic pistol (T 662), the type of gun carried by Howard (T 694-95). nonpiercing bullet was fired from a revolver (T 669), the type of gun carried by Curtis (T 693). Dr. Lipkovic did not find a separate bullet which penetrated Khair-Bek's foot (T 630), and opined: Assuming that Khair-Bek was standing when shot, and that there were no intermediary target other than his foot, the bullet which penetrated the chest would have been the first shot. When Khair-Bek fell as a result, his foot was up in the air when the second shot was fired; thus, the bullet passed through the foot and clothes and simply bruised the chest without penetrating (T 633-35).

Even if the trial court erred in denying Curtis's motion for judgment of acquittal as to premeditated murder, no reversal is necessary because the state proved first degree felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt. See Mungin v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S459 (Fla. Sept. 7, 1995). Specifically, the state proved that the Khair-Bek was dead; that he died while Curtis and Howard robbed the convenience store; and that, although Howard's bullet killed Khair-Bek, Curtis also shot Khair-Bek, and was present and fully participating in the robbery. Furthermore, even if the evidence did not support premeditation, the trial court committed no error in instructing the jury on both premeditated and felony murder where the jury returned a general verdict. Id.

The elements of this crime include: (1) The victim is dead; (2) the death occurred while the defendant was engaged in the commission of armed robbery; and (3) the victim was killed by a person other than the defendant; but both the defendant and the person who killed the victim were principals in the commission of robbery. Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) Felony Murder -- First Degree at 64 (June 1992). See also (T 1107).

#### Issue VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF CURTIS'S DRUG DEALING.

The decision to admit evidence is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and such a decision should not disturbed on appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion.

Muchleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310, 315 (Fla. 1987); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111 (1982). In the present case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence that Curtis and Howard had a drug operation, because it was relevant to prove their motive for robbery and murder.

On May 25, 1994, the prosecutor filed a notice of other crimes, seeking to introduce evidence that Curtis and Howard had conspired to sell, deliver, or distribute cocaine between January 1 and December 21, 1992 (R 41). On June 2, 1994, Curtis filed a motion to strike and a motion in limine, asking the trial court to disallow such evidence, because (1) it was not relevant to prove intent, knowledge, purpose, plan or design; (2) it was not relevant to prove any material fact in issue and would prove only Curtis's bad character; and (3) any probative value would be outweighed by prejudice (R 151-58).

At the hearing on Curtis's motions, the state explained that the narcotics conspiracy was the motivation for the robbery:

Anthony Howard and Albert Fountain . . . indicated that it was this defendant's idea to commit this robbery which subsequently resulted in this murder. Because Memwaldy Curtis and Anthony Howard as a result of their drug dealings that they were involved in, lost some of the drugs or used up some of the drugs and owed somebody money. So, they had to go out and do this robbery in order to get the money.

(T 108). The prosecutor noted that such evidence was permissible under Fla. Stat. § 90.404 (1993) to prove motive, intent, absence of mistake, etc., and urged its admission as proof of motive for the instant robbery/murder: "The motive being that as a result of losing the drugs and having to pay their supplier back . . . they had to go out and do this robbery, and that's why this murder took place." (T 109).

Defense counsel argued that the evidence proved Howard's motive, not Curtis's, because Curtis owed no one money, and that there was a problem with remoteness, since the murder occurred in December 1992 and the notice alleged a time period from January through December 1992 (T 112). The prosecutor countered that he had no intent to make this evidence a feature of the trial (T 116). The trial court denied Curtis's motions (R 234, 236; T 116-17).

The state elicited this collateral crime evidence through its witness Albert Fountain:

[State]: Did [Curtis] say why he and Anthony Howard went to rob the store?

[Howard]: Yes, sir.

[State]: What did he say about that?

[Howard]: Because they owed somebody. They owed somebody else for drug monies on the drugs that they had messed up on, they owed somebody else, so they had to go and get the money.

[State]: Did he say who he owed money to?

[Howard]: To his supplier.

[State]: Did he ever identify the person?

[Howard]: No, sir.

(T 690-91).

Although motive itself may not have been an ultimate issue in this case, it certainly supplied the basis from which Curtis's jury could infer that Curtis intended to commit the robbery and murder, as the prosecutor explained. Accordingly, the trial court properly admitted this evidence as probative of motive. See Maharaj v. State, 597 So. 2d 786, 790 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 1029 (1993); Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 863 (Fla. 1987), cert.

<u>denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988); <u>Cohen v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 926, 928 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

If this Court determines that error occurred on this point, any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The state carefully restricted its questioning in this regard, and did not comment on this point in its 47 page closing argument (T 1035-80, 1085-86).

#### Issue IX

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING CURTIS'S REQUEST FOR AN IN CAMERA JURY INTERVIEW ON THE CLAIM THAT A JUROR HAD DISCUSSED THE CASE BEFORE THE CONCLUSION OF TRIAL.

Curtis asserts that the trial court was required to conduct an in camera interview of juror Sherman to determine whether misconduct warranting a new trial had occurred. Initial Brief at 72-73. Because the trial court conducted a hearing to investigate his claim of juror misconduct, Curtis can prove no abuse of discretion by the trial court. Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86, 95 (Fla. 1991).

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